2007

Garth Lunt v. Harold Lance and Diane Lance : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Pursuant to RULE 3(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, a final order of a Utah District Court may be appealed. Appellate jurisdiction is conferred upon the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to §78-2a-3(a) UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953 as amended.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Should the Trial Court Judge have recused himself from hearing the case due to bias on the basis of his ruling in favor of Plaintiff on an issue involving the subject property while acting as chair of the Heber City Planning Commission?
2. Was there was sufficient evidence to support the Trial Court's finding of the scope, size dimensions, course, route, and location of a prescriptive easement?
3. Did the Trial Court properly find the existence of a prescriptive easement?
4. Did the Trial Court properly apply the clear and convincing standard of proof required for a finding of a prescriptive easement?
5. Did the Trial Court err in refusing to grant the motion for a new trial?
6. Did the Trial Court err in refusing to grant Plaintiff's motion to amend judgment or take additional testimony?

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

a. Issue: Whether the Trial Court Judge Should Have Recused Himself from Hearing the Case due to bias on the basis of his ruling in favor of Plaintiff on an issue involving the subject property while acting as chair of the Heber City Planning Commission.

Standard of review: Determining whether a trial judge committed error by failing to

recuse himself is a question of law, and is reviewed for correctness.” State v. Tueller, 37 P.3d 1180, 1183 (Utah App.,2001). See also, Orvis v. Johnson, 146 P.3d 886, 888 (Utah App., 2006).

Grounds for Review: Although the Trial Judge stated that he thought he had been involved in a boundary dispute over the Lunt’s property while he was the County Attorney, it was later determined that Trial Judge’s exposure to the property was in his role on the Planning Commission and had made specific zoning decisions favorable to Lunt’s property. No objection was made at trial because the extent of the Trial Judge’s relationship to the property and Lunt were not known at that time. As soon as Lance became aware of the Trial Judge’s previous involvement, and before judgment was final, Lance moved to disqualify the Trial Judge. (R. 761,783).

b. Issue: Whether there was sufficient evidence to support the Trial Court’s finding of the scope, size dimensions, course, route, and location of a prescriptive easement.

Standard of review: Errors in factual findings, are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. Nunley v. Westates Casing Servs., Inc., 989 P.2d 1077 (Utah, 1999) (citing Reliance Ins. Co. v. Utah Dep’t of Transp., 858 P.2d 1363, 1366 (Utah 1993)).

Grounds for Seeking Review: The Lances moved for directed verdict of Lunt’s claims at the close of Lunt’s case at trial (R. 958-page 188). The Lances objected to the proposed findings, order and judgment regarding the dimensions of easement. (R. 753-754, 960, page 3). Furthermore, it was plain error for the Trial Court to rule based on the paucity of evidence in the record.

c. Issue: Whether the Trial Court properly found a prescriptive easement.

Standard of review: The finding that an easement exists is a conclusion of law reviewed for correctness. Valcarce v. Fitzgerald, 961 P.2d 305, 311 (Utah 1998).

Grounds for Seeking Review: The Lances moved for directed verdict at the close of Lunt's case at trial on the basis that the elements for prescriptive easement had not been met, specifically that insufficient time of continuous use had passed. (R. 958 page 190-191). Furthermore, the Trial Court's conclusion was plain error in determining that there was an easement.

d. Issue: Whether the Trial Court properly applied the clear and convincing standard of proof.

Standard of Review: Whether a trial court applied the appropriate standard of proof is a question reviewed for correctness. Searle v. Milburn Irr. Co., 133 P.3d 382, 386 (Utah, 2006). In re R.N.J., 908 P.2d 345, 349 (Utah Ct.App.1995).

Grounds for Seeking Review: The Lances moved for new trial on the basis that "the evidence in support of the use necessary to establish a prescriptive easement is not clear and convincing." (R. 891). Furthermore, it was plain error for the court to determine that the evidence met the "clear and convincing" requirement.

e. Issue: Whether the Trial Court erred in refusing to grant the motion for a new trial.

Standard of Review: A denial of a motion for new trial is reviewed pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard. Alvey Development Corp. v. Mackelprang, 51 P.3d 45, 47 (Utah App., 2002). State v. Harmon, 956 P.2d 262, 266 (Utah 1998).

Grounds for Seeking Review: Lance preserved this issue by moving for new trial. (R. 761, 847, 961).

f. Issue: Whether the Trial Court erred in refusing to grant Plaintiff's motion to amend judgment or take additional testimony.

Standard of Review: Review of a district court's denial of a 60(b) motion is under an abuse of discretion standard of review. Russell, 681 P.2d 1193, 1194 (Utah, 1984).

Grounds for Seeking Review: Lance preserved this issue by moving for new trial or alternatively to take additional testimony. (R. 848, 961).

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Canon 3 (b)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This case involves issues regarding the sufficiency of evidence and elements of law required to establish a prescriptive easement and whether the particular evidence received in the lower court met the clear and convincing standard of proof. This case also deals with the impartiality requirements for judges who have previously had dealings with the property, parties, and witnesses before them at trial. Where it was proper to assign the case to a new judge following trial, the case should have recognized that Judge Pullan should not have heard the matter at all and granted a new trial.

B. Course of the Proceedings & Disposition of the Case

1. In 2002, Garth Lunt, Trustee ("Lunt"), brought suit against Harold and Diane Lance ("the Lances"), in the Fourth District Court. The Lances also countersued,

asserting numerous causes of action. After motions for summary judgment, the parties stipulated to the dismissal of all claims with the exception of Lunt's boundary by acquiescence and prescriptive easement claims. (R. 621).

2. A Bench Trial was held on November 1-2, 2005, in Heber City. After trial, the Trial Court found that the Lunts had failed to establish a boundary by acquiescence but it did find that a prescriptive easement had been established. (R.729-730).

3. On March 24, 2006, the Lances timely moved to disqualify Judge Pullan and for a new trial on the basis of the impartiality caused by his former favorable rulings regarding Lunt and his property in his prior service as acting chair of the Heber City Planning Commission. During trial, Judge Pullan stated that he was familiar with the property having been involved in a "boundary dispute" while formerly serving as County Attorney. (R. 958, page 58) No objections were made to his continuing as judge. However, after trial, Defendants discovered that Judge Pullan's actual involvement with the property was in his previous service as acting chair of the Heber City planning commission where he had made certain favorable zoning determinations with regard to Lunt's property. Lunt's sister appeared before then Commissioner Pullan and she also testified on behalf of Lunt at trial. Judge Pullan's involvement with this witness in both arenas called his impartiality into question. On that basis, the Lances moved to disqualify Judge Pullan and for new trial (R. 761). The motion was heard by Judge James R. Taylor. Judge Taylor ruled "This Court concludes that there may at least be an appearance of impropriety should he [Judge Pullan] continue with the case under these circumstances" and he ordered that the remainder of the proceedings be heard by Judge

Anthony Schofield. (R. 838-840). But, Judge Taylor “declined to set aside the trial or ruling of Judge Pullan...” (R. 839).

4. On May 25, 2006, the Lances timely moved for new trial or in the alternative to amend judgment or take additional testimony on the basis of insufficiency of the evidence, particularly that the “clear and convincing” standard had not been met. This motion was denied by the newly assigned Judge Schofield.

5. The Court signed the final Judgment establishing the prescriptive easement and denying the boundary by acquiescence on December 27, 2006. This is an appeal from said Judgment and the orders.

C. Statement of the Facts

1. Testimony of Garth Lunt, Trustee of Plaintiff Lunt Trust. According to Garth Lunt, trustee of the Plaintiff trust, the width of the easement was either 34 feet, 35 feet or 10 feet wide. Garth Lunt stated it was approximately 34 feet from wooden fence northward toward the Lunt house. (R. 958 at 135). He also stated that there were approximately 35 feet between the Lunt House and the northern fence. (R. 958 at 136). The width of the gate entering into Lunt property from the Lane was 10 feet. (R. 958 at 186).
2. Regarding the length of the easement, Garth Lunt testified that it was 274 feet from 6th West to the gate entering the Lunt property from the Lane. (R. 958 at 186. Garth Lunt testified that “someone” moved the gate 62 feet up [eastward] to

its current location. (R. 958 at 148). The Lane is 150 feet from 6th West to the gate's present location. (R. 958 at 183).

3. Regarding the type of historical use, Garth Lunt testified that the Lane was used to take cattle and teams of horses up it and hay back to the barn and machinery. (R. 958 at 134-135). The barn on the Lunt (McNaughten) property was used for milk cows and to store hay. (R. 958 at 160). The use of the Lane was not to access the back apartment but to access an acre of ground that goes west. (R. 958 at 182-183). The Lunt property was subdivided such that the house is now on a 1.2 acre parcel. (R. 958 at 161). The McNaughton barn was removed in approximately 1991. (R. 958 at 137). Garth Lunt considered the Lane as mutual property with the Lance predecessors, the Witts. (R. 958 at 151).
4. Testimony of Jack Lunt, brother of Plaintiff trustee: According to Jack Lunt, brother of Plaintiff trustee, the Lane was approximately 35 feet wide. (R. 958 at 42). The 35 foot wide lane terminated about 3-4 feet from the Lunt house. (R. 958 at 43). The willow tree would be close to the boundary line on the McNaughton side. (R. 958 at 53). Originally only a "basement house" was located on the north side of the Lane. (R. 958 at 26). The Witts had a shed, cellar and fence on the Lane's South boundary. (R. 958 at 31).
5. Jack Lunt remembered going through a gate that went down through the corral on the Lance (formerly Witt) property that he would go through the gate and back into the Lunt property. (R. 958 at 30). The gate to the Lunt barn is 10-12 feet wide. (R. 958 at 41).

6. Regarding the length of the easement, Jack Lunt testified that from 6th West to the Witt barn was approximately 240-260 feet. A fence ran along the South side of the Lane about 151 feet. (R. 958 at 5). It was between 164-247 feet to the Witt barn from 6th West. (R. 958 at 27-28). The Lane terminated about 164 feet deep from the 6th West. (R. 958 at 27). It was about 240 feet to the barn from 6th West. (R. 958 at 28). The wooden fence from the Witt property corner would be about 160-162 feet (R. 958 at 38). The South side of the Lane is 175 feet back from asphalt to the fence. It would have been approximately 62 feet more to the Witt's barn. (R. 958 at 41).
7. Regarding the historical use of the easement, Jack Lunt testified the Lane was used for Lunt's predecessors and the Lances predecessors to move equipment, mowing machines, delivery rakes from one place to another. (R. 958 at 14). Jack Lunt recalled going through the gate in the Lane to feed the calves he had weaned. He also took a bob sleigh and a wagon down the lane. (R. 958 at 30). There is no longer a gate to get through to go north from the Lane onto the Lunt property – "Somebody made that a fence." (R. 958 at 44). There was no other use of the Lane by Jack Lunt other than to bring hay machinery, milk cows, and a sleigh. (R. 958 at 51). Jack Lunt saw the Witts (the Lances' predecessors) taking their horses down the Lane to the Witts' pasture.
8. Testimony of Moneves Boren, sister of Plaintiff Trustee. With regard to the width of the easement Moneves Boren testified that from the chimney on the apartment

over to the wooden fence on the other side of the Lane there was about 35 feet. (R. 958 at 66).

9. Regarding the length of the easement, Moneves Boren testified it was about 235 feet from the edge of the asphalt on 6th West to where the Lane would have gone across the barn onto the Lunt property. (R. 958 at 67).
10. With regard to the historical use, Moneves Boren testified: We used it down--- to go down through there to park – down the side of the law for we didn't have room in the front. Well, and when the snow got deep in there we couldn't get out anyway. We used it to park cars. In the summer we used it to take our hay back to the barn. We used it to put cattle down in there and take them out to take them to the north field, just the general use. (R. 958 at 64). The barn on the Lunt property was used only for cattle and to store hay. (R. 958 at 68). In the milk shed on the north side of the barn. Moneves Boren Last milked in 1950. (R. 958 at 79). Both the Lance predecessors, the Witts and the Lunt predecessors, the McNaughtons used the Lane during hay season. (R. 958 at 90). The apartment was rented out after 1985. (R. 958 at 91). Tenants could not get to the apartment with cars because of the fence put up by Ms. Boren in the 2001. (R. 958 at 109-110).
11. Testimony Plaintiff Witness Eldon Carlisle. According to Eldon Carlisle, the length of the Lane was about ¼ to 1/3 of a block and where the Lunt predecessors would have turned North into the Lunt property. (R. 958 at 118).

12. Regarding the use of the easement, Eldon Carlisle testified that both Lunt's predecessors and the Lances' predecessors used the Lane. (R. 958 at 117, 121).
The Witts parked their car on the lane in the 20's and 30's. (R. 958 at 127). The McNaughtons (Lunt's predecessors) stopped running cattle in the late 80's or early 90's. (R. 958 at 128).
13. According to Defense witness Frankie Housel, length of the measurement from the grainery to the Witt Barn was approximately 200 feet. (R. 959 at 267).
14. Regarding use of the Lane, Frankie Housel testified the Lane was a driveway to the Witt's property. (R. 959 at 264). The wood fence was there for the purpose of keeping animals and machinery off the Witt's lawn. (R. 959 at 272).
15. According to defense witness Frank Pia, expert photogrammetrist, from 6th West to the Witt barn was approximately 150-175 feet. (R. 959 at 322).
16. According to Defense witness Duane Smith, the length of the easement was approximately 150-200 feet from 6th West to the barn.
17. Regarding width, Duane Smith testified that the Lane was about 40 feet wide. (R. 959 at 258).
18. Regarding use of the easement, Duane Smith testified that only the Witts (Lances' predecessors) used the lane. They had machinery parked on both sides of it. (R. 959 at 255). There's about an eight foot gate in between two big black willow trees north of the Lunt house there. Said gate was North of where the house is now. (R. 959 at 261). The access way to the garage behind the Lunt house was north of the house rather than south across the Lane. (R. 959 at 253).

19. According to Diana Lance, The concrete block building on the Lunt property has the doors facing north. (R. 959 at 219).

20. In 1988, Lunt first rented out the apartment (Exhibit 41) usage changed from agricultural access to apartment access. (R. 959 at 242).

21. During trial Judge Pullan stated “when I was the County Attorney for Wasatch County I was consulted about a boundary line issue. My recollection is in this general area. I have no recollection with whom I talked.” (R. 958). Counsel for Lances stated “My clients have not been involved with you, they don’t recognize you. They don’t recall anything like that.” (R. 958). After the Bench Trial, the Lances discovered that Judge Pullan had previously served on the Heber City Planning Commission, that he had dealt specifically with the property owned by Lunt, and that his previous involvement had been favorable to Lunt. (R. 771, 766).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The Trial Court erred when it found an all purpose year-round easement because the evidence at trial showed only that the Lunt use of the Lane was for occasional agricultural purposes over the years and that when the agricultural use had stopped, the easement use was abandoned. The court found that the agricultural use was abandoned. The use was clearly abandoned in 1991 when the Lunt barn was removed. Lunt did not begin to use the Lane for vehicular ingress and egress to the accessory apartment until 1988. The prescriptive period for such new use has not run. Because the time period for

vehicular ingress and egress had not run, the Trial Court should not have found a prescriptive easement for a driveway.

The Trial Court erred when it established the width of the prescriptive easement at 20 feet wide on the basis that 20 feet was the standard width for a driveway in Heber City Municipal Code. The dimensions of a prescriptive easement can only be established by historical use. The proper width should be ten to twelve feet wide –which is the width of the gate the Lunt’s testified as historically leading from the Lane onto the Lunt Property. This gate is no longer in existence. The Lane should also only reach a length of at most 150 feet. All testimony established that the ten-to twelve-foot-wide gate into the Lunt Property from the Lane stood between 150 feet West from 600 West street.

The Trial Court erred when it found that the Lane had been continuously used for 20 years. Lunt’s witnesses had lived on or worked on the property for no more than approximately a total of twelve years such that they lacked any basis for testifying of its continuing use for more than the requisite 20 years.

The evidence given did not reach the level of clear and convincing. Lunt’s witnesses included himself, his brother and his sister –all of whom are interested parties and whose testimony was self-serving. They each testified that they had made measurements on the property the day before trial, but such measurements were irrelevant because they merely measured to where they thought the barn had stood, where the gate had been, and where other landmarks used to be. Lunt’s only other witness was Eldon Carlile. Mr. Carlile testified against the continuous use of the Lane. None of The Lances’ witnesses were self-interested and testified from memory rather than testifying of

contemporary measurements. The Lances' photogrammetry expert testified that the use of the Lane was not continuous and that other access was used, which tends to show that the Lane was abandoned by the Lunt predecessors and used primarily by the Lance predecessors.

Judge Pullan should have been disqualified and a new trial granted. Fourth District Presiding Judge Taylor ruled that the facts established "the appearance of impartiality" and ordered the remainder of the case to be heard by Judge Schofield. It was improper to not order a new trial under the circumstances where there was the appearance of impartiality.

ARGUMENTS

A. THE TRIAL JUDGE WAS NOT IMPARTIAL AND A NEW TRIAL IS WARRANTED.

After the trial judge issued his Ruling in this case, the Presiding Judge of the Fourth District re-assigned the case to another judge in response to Defendants' Motion to Disqualify. The basis for the re-assignment was that Judge Pullan, prior to becoming a judge, had ruled in favor of Lunt on an issue involving the subject property while acting as chair of the Heber City Planning Commission. Further, Lunt's sister testified both at the Planning Commission and at trial with regard to the property. (R. 771).

The evidence in each party's favor in this case was squarely controverted by the other side. The decision in the case therefore rested solely in the discretion and impressions of the trial judge. It is true that a trial judge typically has wide discretion in

deciding disputed issues of fact and the credibility of witnesses. But in this case, not only was the trial judge held to the more rigorous standard of clear and convincing evidence, he also carried an inherent liability: his ability to rule impartially in the case was subject to question due to his prior involvement with Plaintiff, and Plaintiff's property, while on the planning commission.

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