2007

# Garth Lunt v. Harold Lance and Diane Lance : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

#### **I. Summary of Arguments In Response to Appeal**

The Lances allegations of perceived bias are insufficient to warrant a new trial in this case. Judge Pullan's involvement as vice-chair of the Heber City Planning Commission prior to admittance to the bench is by itself not evidence of actual prejudice and thus demonstrative of bias sufficient for a new trial. *See State v. Alonzo*, 973 P.2d 975, 979 (Utah 1998). The Lances fail to demonstrate that Judge Pullan took any

“extreme” actions or exhibited a “deep-seated antagonism” toward them, and therefore fail to allege bias sufficient to warrant a new trial. *See State Interest of M.L.*, 965 P.2d 551, 556 (Utah Ct.App. 1998).

The trial courts finding that Mr. Lunt holds a prescriptive easement cannot be overturned. Trial courts are granted broad discretion to in easement cases because they are fact intensive decisions and trial courts are in the best decision to hear, weigh, and determine whether testimony is clear and convincing. *Orton v. Carter*, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998). They can only be overturned if they exceed this broad discretion. *Id.* The trial court did not exceed its broad discretion in this case. The testimony of the witnesses was clear and convincing that Mr. Lunt and his predecessors openly, notoriously, and adversely used the Lane for more than twenty years. *Marchant v. Park City*, 788 P.2d 520, 524 (Utah 1990). The Lances fail to marshal evidence that proves otherwise. *See Hogle v. Zinetics Med., Inc.*, 2002 UT 121, ¶ 16 (Utah 2002).

## **II. Summary of Arguments on Cross-Appeal**

The trial court erred by ruling on the issue of abandonment when that issue was not raised or tried before the court. In *Combe v. Warren’s Family Drive-Inns Inc.*, the Supreme Court precludes trial court’s from “granting of relief on issues neither raised nor tried.” 680 P.2d 733, 735 (Utah 1984). In this case, the issue of abandonment was not raised in the pleadings or the trial court, the Lances failed to raise the issue, and the Mr.

Lunt did not have sufficient notice for the trial court to rule on this issue. *See Cowley v. Porter*, 2005 UT App 518 (UT Ct.App. 2005).

Even if this Court were to find the trial court was within its authority to rule on the issue of abandonment, the elements of abandonment were not met. While an easement may be abandoned in Utah, *Western Gateway Storage Co. v. Treseder*, 567 P.2d 181, 182 (Utah 1977), an intent to abandon and actual abandonment of an easement must be demonstrated by clear, convincing, and unequivocal evidence for the trial court to declare an easement abandoned. *State v. Rynhart*, 2005 UT 84 ¶ 14 (Utah 2005) (citing *Linscomb v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber*, 199 F.2d 431, 435 (8th Cir. 1952)); *see also Lucky Seven Rodeo Corp. v. Clark*, 755 P.2d 750, 753 (UT App. 1988). The Lances failed to raise, let alone prove by clear, convincing, and unequivocal evidence that Mr. Lunt (1) demonstrated an intent to abandon his easement in the Lane; and (2) actually abandoned the Lane.

**ARGUMENT**  
**(RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S BRIEF)**

The Lances appeal three issues: (1) The denial of their motion for a new trial based on grounds that the trial judge was not impartial because he acted as chair of the Heber City Planning Commission when the commission changed the zoning on the subject property in 1998; (2) the trial court did not apply the proper test for prescriptive easements; and (3) the Lances' witnesses were more credible than the Plaintiff Mr. Lunt's

and therefore the trial court's decision that Mr. Lunt's witnesses established an easement by clear and convincing evidence was wrong.

The trial judge was an impartial finder of facts in this case. Near the beginning of trial, Judge Pullan raised the issue of his recollection of prior experience with the property with the Lances and Mr. Lunt. Neither party objected to his continued presence on the case or sought to disqualify him at that time. In regards to the second issue, the record supports the trial court's finding that a prescriptive easement existed by clear and convincing evidence. Finally, in response to the last issue, a trial judge is granted broad discretion in determining the credibility of witnesses. Simply because the Lances disagree with the trial court's determination of credibility does not make Lunt's witnesses less credible or the findings of fact less clear and convincing.

Mr. Lunt on cross-appeal also requests review of the trial court's finding of abandonment and of the final length and width of the prescriptive easement ordered by the trial court.

**I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE APPELLANTS MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AND TO DISQUALIFY JUDGE PULLAN.**

The Utah Supreme Court will not find a trial court has abused its discretion and grant a new trial based on allegations of perceived bias alone. *See Edgell v. Canning*, 1999 UT 21, ¶ 12 (Utah 1999). In Utah, judges are presumed to be qualified. *In re Affidavit of Bias*, 947 P.2d 1152, 1153 (Utah 1997) (citing 46 Am.Jur.2d Judges § 218



(1994)). They also are not required to hear a case with no existing personal biases or opinions. As stated by the Utah Supreme Court, “[a]lthough litigants are entitled to a judge who will hear both sides and decide an issue on the merits of the law and the evidence presented, they are not entitled to a judge whose mind is a clean slate.” *Madsen v. Prudential Fed. Sav. & Loan*, 767 P.2d 538, 542 (Utah 1988). In other words, it is neither possible nor recommended for a judge leave a “lifetime of experiences” and the opinions and attitudes generated therefrom in his or her chambers before taking the bench. *Id.* at 546.

One party’s alleged bias by the trial court cannot be based solely on the fact that a judge has issued prior rulings adverse to the party making the allegation. *See In re Affidavit of Bias*, 947 P.2d at 1154 (stating “no deduction of bias and prejudice may be made from adverse rulings by a judge.”) (quoting 46 Am.Jur.2d Judges § 219 (1994)). Instead, such bias can be shown to exist only if “apart from [the judge’s] analysis of the issues of fact or law [in those prior proceedings], he had such a bias in favor of one party or prejudice against the other that he could not fairly and impartially determine the issues.” *See State Interest of M.L.*, 965 P.2d 551, 556 (Utah Ct.App. 1998)(quoting *Poulsen v. Frear*, 946 P.2d 738, 742 (Utah Ct.App. 1997). Indeed, for assertions of bias to meet the standard warranting a new trial, the asserting party must demonstrate that the judge demonstrated “extreme” actions and a “deep-seated antagonism” against them in the prior proceedings such that he or she cannot “fairly and impartially determine the

issues. *Id.* The Supreme Court held in the *Edgell v. Canning* case, a case with a similar fact pattern, that error based on the trial court's perceived bias will not be presumed. *Edgell v. Canning*, 1999 UT 21, ¶ 12 (Utah 1999).

Finally, it is a well-recognized rule that an application for the disqualification of a trial judge must be filed at the earliest opportunity. *Madsen*, 756 P.2d at 543. Therefore, when a trial judge discloses personal experience with or participation in previous proceedings involving the parties, any affected party, if they so desire, should immediately object to continuing the proceedings, or at the very least ask for a continuance to consider disqualification. *Id.*

**A. The Lances' Allegations Fail to Demonstrate Facts that Any Bias or Actual Prejudice Was Shown. In Addition, the Lances Made No Objection To Judge Pullan Staying on the Case.**

The Lances' allegations of bias are based solely on a previous decision made by the Heber City Planning Commission that affected the zoning on the subject property. Judge Pullan was a member of this commission prior to being admitted to the bench. However, prior experience with the subject property as the acting chair of a seven-member planning commission is insufficient for the Lances' allegations of bias to warrant a new trial. The zoning decision was made on September 24, 1998 and does not demonstrate any hint of bias. R. 767. The minutes of the meeting reveal that Monaves Moren requested to change the zoning on the property from RA-2 to R-2 zoning. R. 766. No one attended to speak against her request. *Id.* Commission member Harry Zane made

a motion to approve the zone change, the motion was seconded by Sherman Christen, another Commission member, and the motion carried unanimously. *Id.* The fact that Judge Pullan was a member of this seven-member committee before he was even admitted to the bench does not demonstrate any bias toward the Lances.

The Lances have not alleged or raised any facts to demonstrate that Judge Pullan engaged in any “extreme” actions or demonstrated “deep-seated antagonism” toward them in this previous interaction. *See State Interest of M.L.*, 965 P.2d at 556 (Utah Ct.App. 1998). To the contrary, the only allegation maintained by the Lances is that Judge Pullan was acting chairman<sup>1</sup> of the commission that made a zoning decision regarding the property. The Lances cite to *State v. Alonzo*, 973 P.2d 975, 979 (Utah 1998) in support of the proposition that appearance of bias may be grounds for reversal if actual prejudice is shown.” However, as previously stated, the Lances fail to allege actual prejudice. Mere involvement on a seven-member planning commission eight years prior to trial is not actual prejudice. They have presented no evidence of bias. On its own, this involvement fails to demonstrate the seven-member commission’s unanimous decision creates some sort of judicial bias in the underlying dispute.

In addition, no objection was raised by the Lances when informed of this prior experience. When Judge Pullan, on his own accord, noted to the parties that he recalled

---

<sup>1</sup> Judge Pullan was the vice-chairman of the commission. He conducted the vote in this case because the Chairman did not arrive until a few minutes after the vote had been taken after which time the chairman took over the meeting. *See R. 766.*

dealing with a boundary line issue on the subject property in the past (R. 958 58:17-21), the Lances neither objected to continuing the proceedings nor requested a continuance to consider disqualifying Judge Pullan.<sup>2</sup> *See Madsen* at 543. Instead, Lances' counsel, who conferred with his clients prior to speaking, stated "My clients have not been involved with you. They don't recognize you. They don't recall anything like that. All their property is in Heber City, so I don't know if you had jurisdiction (inaudible)." R. 958 at 59:9-12. The Lances should have objected against proceeding with trial or requested a continuance to consider disqualification at that time. Apparently it was not an issue then and because they have failed to demonstrate any actual bias, the Lances' mere allegations of bias at this late juncture are insufficient to warrant a new trial.

**B. The Lances Allegations of Bias Were Heard By Both Judge Taylor and Judge Schofield, Who Both Denied the Allegations and Refused to Overturn Judge Pullan's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.**

Regardless, the Lances were able to address their concern of bias to different judges on two separate occasions: (1) in their rule 63(b)(2) Motion to Disqualify Judge Pullan which was heard by Judge Taylor; and (2) in their Rule 59 Motion for a New Trial heard by Judge Schofield. Judge Taylor, while accepting Mrs. Lances' affidavit alleging bias as requisite certification under rule 63, refused to overturn the findings and turned

---

<sup>2</sup> In their statement of the case paragraph 3, the Lances on appeal cite to the record at 958 p. 58 and assert that Judge Pullan stated he was familiar with the property, having been involved in a "boundary dispute" while serving as county attorney. This misstates the record. Judge Pullan never stated he was party to a "boundary dispute." It was his recollection that he "was consulted about a boundary line issue," something far different from a "boundary dispute."

the case over to Judge Schofield simply to avoid “the appearance of impropriety” that could remotely be inferred if Judge Pullan continued with the trial. *See R.* at 839.

However, when the issue of bias sufficient to warrant a new trial was heard by Judge Schofield, he firmly denied the Lances’ allegations of bias on the following grounds:

[Judge Pullan’s] involvement as a member of the planning commission did not create a bias or prejudice which justifies a new trial in this matter. As Chairman of the planning commission, Judge Pullan was one of several members of that body who dealt with the issue of [the] property. He did not act alone. Additionally, at the beginning of the trial Judge Pullan remembered his previous involvement with [the] property and asked the parties if they objected to his trying the case. At that time, neither party objected. Having failed to object at that time, when the issue was squarely addressed to the parties by Judge Pullan, [the Lances] cannot now be heard to complain. Judge Pullan’s involvement with the plaintiff’s property does not warrant a new trial.

R. 932-31. In their Rule 59 motion, the Lances could not cite to any clear or convincing evidence that any hint of bias existed and their request for a new trial was properly denied. Their argument on appeal remains unchanged. They are unable to produce any facts sufficient to demonstrate any actual or implied bias in this case and their request on appeal for a new trial is not warranted and should be denied.

The Lances’ unchanged allegations of bias based solely on the fact that Judge Pullan served as acting chairman of the Heber City Planning Commission prior to his appointment to the bench are insufficient to warrant a new trial. The fact that the trial court issued a ruling adverse to the Lances interests does not show “deep-seated

antagonism” or even prejudice. *See State Interest of M.L.*, 965 P.2d 551, 556 (Utah Ct.App. 1998).

**II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN IT’S BROAD DISCRETION IN FINDING THAT THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY AND CONVINCINGLY DEMONSTRATED THE EXISTENCE OF A PRESCRIPTIVE EASEMENT.**

**A. Standard of Review**

The finding of a prescriptive easement is a conclusion of law in which a trial court is granted broad discretion. *Orton v. Carter*, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998). While typically courts of appeal review a trial court’s legal conclusions for correctness, according the trial court no legal deference, the standard of review for a prescriptive easement is different. The Utah Supreme Court has held that “such a finding is the type of highly fact-dependant question, with numerous potential fact patterns, which accords the trial judge a broad measure of discretion when applying the correct legal standard to the given set of facts. *Orton*, 970 P.2d at 1256. Therefore, the finding of an easement will only be overturned if the appellate court finds that the trial judge’s decision exceeded the broad discretion granted. *Id.* (emphasis added). Great deference is granted in the easement context because trial judges have close proximity to the parties, the witnesses, the exhibits and the trial. *Id.* In addition, trial judges are better able to weigh conflicting evidence and decide what weight is to be given to the testimony of those witnesses that testify at trial. *See Pollesche v. TransAmerican Insurance Co.*, 497 P.2d 236, 238 (Utah 1972). The trial court, having reviewed the testimony of the witnesses and the exhibits

produced at trial, correctly ruled that the evidence clearly and convincingly demonstrated the existence of a prescriptive easement in the Lane.

**B. The Elements for a Prescriptive Easement Were Met by the Testimony of the Witnesses and the Exhibits Entered Into Evidence.**

The elements of a prescriptive easement are met when the party claiming a prescriptive easement can prove that use of another's land was open, continuous, and adverse under a claim of right for a period of twenty years. *Marchant v. Park City*, 788 P.2d 520, 524 (Utah 1990) (citing *Crane v. Crane*, 683 P.2d 1062 (Utah 1984)). The evidence to establish a prescriptive easement must be clear and convincing. *Marchant v. Park City*, 771 P.2d 677, 682 (Utah Ct.App. 1989). In this case, the trial court correctly found that the evidence was clear and convincing that use of the Lane was open, notorious, and adverse for over twenty years, thus meeting this standard. Therefore, the trial court's decision regarding the existence of a prescriptive easement should be affirmed.

Where adjoining property owners, or their predecessors, jointly establish and use a Lane or driveway, this use meets the requirement of being open, notorious, adverse and continuous if done for a period of 20 years and establishes a prescriptive right to its continued use. *Orton v. Carter*, 920 P.2d 1254, 1259 (Utah 1998). Testimony presented by the witnesses shows the open, notorious and adverse use of the Lane by the McNaughtens and Lunts for at least twenty years. In fact, the testimony from Plaintiff's witnesses and the property pictures entered into evidence as exhibits, demonstrate open,

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